

Integrating Employment Support with Primary Healthcare Services

A Review of Models and Evidence

Author

Amy Richardson, Senior Analyst, Research and Evaluation, Ministry of Social Development.

Kiri Saul, Senior Analyst, Research and Evaluation, Ministry of Social Development.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Dr Clare Dominick (MSD), Moira Wilson (MSD), Dr Stephanie Palmer (MSD), Diane Anderson (MSD), Amanda Mainey (MSD), Telsa Edge (MSD), Celeste Daymond (MSD), and the Strategy and Insights Feedback Clinic Team (MSD) for their helpful comments, review, and advice.

Disclaimer

The views and interpretations in this report are those of the Research and Evaluation team and are not the official position of the Ministry of Social Development.

Published

Ministry of Social Development PO Box 1556 Wellington www.msd.govt.nz/insights

April 2023

ISBN

978-1-99-110511-0

Contents

Execut	tive Summary!
	Main findings
	Recommendations for designing and implementing integrated programmes
	Limitations
Introd	luction
Backg	round
	Understanding Health and Disability
	Suitable paid employment has health benefits for disabled people and people with health conditions
	Disabled people and people with health conditions have lower rates of employment and are more likely to be in precarious work
	Entering or returning to work for disabled people and those with health conditions is an individual, complex, and multidimensional process
	Increased integration of employment support and healthcare services has been recommended to remove barriers
	Primary healthcare settings should be well placed to provide integrated employment and health services
	The Oranga Mahi programme includes several new initiatives integrating employment support with primary healthcare
	Understanding the range of different integration models
Findin	gs12
	The largest international evidence base for programmes integrating employment support with primary care have been based on adaptations of IPS
	Co-location of employment support within primary care settings has been found to reduce work absence internationally
	Evaluations of case management programmes to integrate employment support and primary healthcare have produced mixed results
	Patient navigation has received limited investigation, but findings are promising 14
	Several programmes identified in this review included multiple components \dots 1
Recom	nmendations10
Appen	dix One: Methodology1
	Search Strategy
	Eligibility Criteria18
	Synthesis of Findings
	Strengths and Limitations of the methodology18
Appen	dix Two: Employment, Health, and Barriers20

	Suitable paid employment has health benefits for disabled people and people wi health conditions	
	Disabled people and people with health conditions have lower rates of employment and are more likely to be in precarious work	20
	Similar barriers to employment have been identified in New Zealand and internationally	21
	Disabled people and people with health conditions experience multiple barriers temployment	
Appen	dix Three: Understanding Integrated Employment Support Models	23
	Increased integration of employment support and healthcare services has been recommended to remove barriers	23
	Primary healthcare settings should be well placed to provide integrated employment and health services	24
	The Oranga Mahi programme includes several new initiatives integrating employment support with primary healthcare	25
	National and international reports indicate a need for the Oranga Mahi programme	25
	Understanding the range of different integration models	25
Appen	dix Four: Table of services included in this literature review	29
Refere	ences	30

Executive Summary

This document presents findings from a review of programmes that integrate employment support with primary healthcare for disabled people and people with health conditions. Evidence on these programmes can inform decisions about the Oranga Mahi programme and support the development of initiatives to support people with disabilities and health conditions, such as those included in the Active Labour Market Policy (ALMP) review and the proposed Income Insurance Scheme.

Main findings

The review found that integration of employment support and healthcare services can help lessen barriers for disabled people and people with health conditions entering and remaining in employment. Combining work-focused strategies with clinical care is more effective than using either strategy alone.

The provision of successfully integrated person-centred care can improve the availability, quality, and efficiency of services, particularly for people with complex health needs, however, it can be challenging to integrate services well. A successful integrated approach is likely to have multiple requirements at all levels to establish structures, mechanisms and processes that support integration, and to build a collaborative culture.

Overall, review findings suggest that multi-component programmes to integrate primary healthcare and employment support, such as IPS, have the greatest likelihood of improving management of health conditions and helping people into sustainable employment. However, more investigation of other approaches is needed in the New Zealand context, and it is vital to investigate more fully how these programmes work for Māori and Pacific Peoples.

Programmes that have used a patient navigation model of integration, or a co-location model other than IPS, have received limited investigation but results look promising. Available findings suggest that further evaluation of these programmes is warranted.

Recommendations for designing and implementing integrated programmes

Based on the review findings, we recommend the following are taken into consideration when designing and implementing integrated programmes in New Zealand:

- Multi-component programmes that involve employment specialists co-located within health services, such as IPS, have the strongest evidence base and the greatest likelihood of improving management of health conditions and helping people into sustainable employment. These programmes provide a comprehensive package of services and include engagement with prospective employers.
- More research investigating multi-component programmes, such as IPS, in New Zealand primary care services is recommended, particularly, work is needed to understand how employment outcomes vary by ethnicity in response to IPS, and to ensure that programmes are designed and delivered in a way that supports the

employment aspirations of Māori.

- More investigation of other integration approaches is needed in the New Zealand context, to understand how these programmes work for Māori and Pacific Peoples. It is essential to understand how different integration approaches are experienced by Māori, and for Kaupapa Māori programmes to be developed.
- Successful programmes take a person-centred approach and are characterised by effective communication and coordination between health professionals, employment specialists, and employers.
- Programmes should recognise how health conditions and/or disabilities affect the
 capacity of people to engage with employment-focused activities, including when
 they have moved into work, and ensure that support for people to manage their
 health is available. Programmes that provide limited support from health
 professionals tend to have low levels of retention and engagement.
- Adequate communication and reporting systems are needed to ensure that
 programme delivery and outcomes can be consistently monitored over time. This
 data is critical for evaluating the success of a programme, and for informing any
 changes to design and implementation.
- It is important that programmes endeavour to achieve outcomes associated with sustainable employment, such as engagement in part-time work and health and wellbeing, rather than focusing solely on off-benefit employment outcomes.
- Outcomes need to be monitored over sufficiently long periods to detect clinically meaningful changes in outcomes over time.

Limitations

No strong evidence for case management approaches to integration were found internationally, and variable results have been found in New Zealand. However, an evaluation of a Kaupapa Māori case management programme reported high participant engagement and improvements in physical and mental wellbeing.

There is not enough information about how different integration approaches are experienced by Māori to make any comment on their success or suitability for Māori. Only one Kaupapa Māori programme was identified in the literature search. Furthermore, only two evaluations provided information on how programmes were experienced by Māori and no evaluations reported experiences of other Indigenous people. A review of general Indigenous employment programs implemented in Australia noted that programmes delivered by Indigenous people are more effective, reflecting their ability to provide support in a culturally appropriate way.

Introduction

This review provides an overview of existing evidence on integrated programmes like Oranga Mahi. It is based on evaluations of programmes that are designed to integrate employment support with primary healthcare for disabled people and people with health conditions. The review includes 15 evaluations of 12 unique programmes delivered in NZ, and 21 evaluations of 17 unique international programmes. Detailed information on the methodology can be found in Appendix One.

The review provides information and evidence that can be used to guide decision-making in relation to the Oranga Mahi programme¹, including decisions about potential modifications and/or expansions. Specific objectives of the review were:

- To identify the range of models underpinning programmes that integrate employment support with primary healthcare for disabled people and people with health conditions.
- To describe the specific programmes that have been investigated and provide detail on:
 - the <u>implementation</u> of programmes, including factors that help and hinder implementation
 - the <u>effectiveness</u> of programmes with respect to modifying outcomes, including employment, health, and wellbeing outcomes.

Background

Understanding Health and Disability

Health and disability are evolving concepts. Organisations within the disability sector generally ascribe to a biopsychosocial model of disability which describes disabled people as including those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual, or sensory impairments which in interaction with various barriers may hinder their full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others (UNCRPD, 2006).

Likewise, health, once thought of solely as the absence of disease or disorder, is now usually viewed as a multidimensional concept that takes a person's physical, intellectual, emotional, social, and spiritual states into account. There is no sole determinant of individual wellbeing, but general wellbeing is dependent upon good health, positive social relationships and the availability of and access to basic resources (e.g., shelter, income) (WEAG, 2019).

¹ The Oranga Mahi programme includes several initiatives funded by the Ministry of Social Development (MSD) and co-designed in partnership with health sector providers. The initiatives support disabled people and people with health conditions, who are currently MSD clients or are at risk of becoming MSD clients, to improve their health, wellbeing, and employment outcomes. A key feature of the Oranga Mahi programme is the integration of employment support and primary healthcare.

Difficulties engaging in stable and secure work are likely to be experienced by an increasing number of people over time. Factors such as, aging populations, increases in chronic health conditions, and poverty, among other causes, mean the prevalence of people living with health conditions is increasing globally, in addition to the proportion of people managing multiple health conditions (Esteban et al., 2018).

Suitable paid employment has health benefits for disabled people and people with health conditions

The health promoting effects of work have been well-documented among disabled people and people with health conditions (Leonardi & Scaratti, 2018). Remaining in or reentering the workforce is associated with better health outcomes, reduced risk of long-term incapacity, increased independence, and improved quality of life and wellbeing (Waddell & Burton, 2006). People with disabling conditions also report that work generates feelings of normality and provides opportunities for socialisation (Saunders & Nedelec, 2014). There is strong evidence that participation in suitable paid employment is beneficial for health and wellbeing (Waddell & Burton, 2006). That said, some physical and psychosocial aspects of work can also pose risks to health (Waddell & Burton, 2006).

Disabled people and people with health conditions have lower rates of employment and are more likely to be in precarious work

Disabled people and people with health conditions often face multiple barriers to entering and remaining in employment. In NZ, the rate of employment for disabled people is 23% while the rate for non-disabled people is 70% (Health and Disability System Review, 2020). In Europe, people experiencing restrictions in their work life because of health conditions have an employment rate 30% less than people with no restrictions (Eurostat, 2015). For disabled people and people with health conditions who are participating in work, this work is more likely to be temporary or part-time, lower paying, and associated with fewer benefits than the work of people without disabilities (LaMontagne et al., 2016).

Entering or returning to work for disabled people and those with health conditions is an individual, complex, and multidimensional process.

There can be multiple barriers to employment for disabled people and people with health conditions including, individual, social, employment-specific, socio-economic, and environmental barriers. A more detailed discussion on employment, health and barriers can be found in Appendix Two.

Individual barriers

Individual barriers include, functional limitations preventing engagement in work that aligns with previous experience and/or skills, a lack of qualifications and stable work history, and confidence and self-esteem issues (MSD, 2019). An additional individual barrier is the reality of living with a long-term condition and the significant time and energy this requires, reducing energy available to engage in paid work (Fadyl et al., 2020a; Foitzek et al., 2018).

Social barriers

Disabled people and people with health conditions may experience stigma and discrimination from their community. Friends, family, and co-workers may question their capacity and competence to work.

Employment-specific barriers

Employers may hold biased views about disabled people and people with health conditions that influence their hiring decisions (Foitzek et al., 2018; MSD, 2019). Negative experiences can lead to people being fearful of having to disclose health information to prospective employers, contributing to a reluctance to engage with potential employment opportunities (Fadyl et al., 2020a). Other employment-related barriers in the NZ context include limited opportunities for a graduated return to work and limited availability of appropriate jobs.

Socio-economic and environmental barriers

Broader socio-economic and environmental barriers to work in NZ include abatement and other funding disincentives, resulting in a risk for disabled people and people with health conditions being worse off in employment. This has also been reported as a barrier to employment by international qualitative studies (Fadyl et al., 2020a).

In NZ and internationally, insufficient government funding to enable employers to provide people with health conditions an adequate level of support once they enter the workforce has been identified as another barrier (MSD, 2019).

Increased integration of employment support and healthcare services has been recommended to remove barriers

There is increasing evidence that addressing the employment needs of disabled people and people with health conditions should be considered a key component of integrated care delivery. Cross-agency and cross-sector partnerships may help to address the many barriers to employment experienced by disabled people and people with health conditions. Integrated programmes, that combine employment support with support from healthcare professionals, have been recommended to address the common objectives of these sectors (Priest & Lockett, 2020). However, it should be noted that it can be challenging to integrate services well.

Primary healthcare settings should be well placed to provide integrated employment and health services

It will be important to get the institutional and organisational requirements right to foster successful integration of services, however, the integration of employment support into primary care and community care settings could present an important opportunity to meet the employment needs of disabled people and people with health conditions. Many people with health conditions would like to work and see employment as a central part of their recovery (Saunders & Nedelec, 2014). However, periods of unemployment can lower confidence levels and self-esteem. Having a health professional to foster hope and expectations of a return to work may help to mitigate this, and GPs are well-placed to provide this type of support. Many people with long-term health conditions and/or disabilities have an established relationship with their GP and have a high degree of trust in their advice and guidance (Stewart, 2005).

The Oranga Mahi programme includes several new initiatives integrating employment support with primary healthcare

The cross-agency Oranga Mahi programme includes several initiatives that aim to provide integrated employment, welfare, and primary health support for people living with health conditions or disabilities. These initiatives are delivered in primary care settings, enabling GPs to facilitate access to a range of employment services for eligible patients. While the Oranga Mahi programme is made up of several different initiatives, including some designed for people with specific types of health conditions, all are under-pinned by a common theory of change. This theory proposes clients enrolled in the Oranga Mahi programme will experience improved wellbeing and employment outcomes if they:

- are assigned dedicated support from a team that works in an integrated way
- are supported to define their own wellbeing and employment goals and develop an individualised plan
- have access to health and social services that meet their needs.

Understanding the range of different integration models

Programmes that integrate employment support with primary healthcare services for disabled people and people with health conditions have been underpinned by a range of different integration models. There is significant overlap across the models with respect to integration activities. These models include patient navigation, case management/care coordination, co-location, adapted Individual Placement and Support (IPS), and multi-component approaches. Further discussion of how the models might potentially work better than separate provisions can be found in Appendix Three.

Patient navigation

Patient navigation approaches to care integration are designed to efficiently guide patients on their journey through the healthcare system. An important aspect of patient navigation is the integration of a navigator within a person's healthcare team who develop a one-on-one relationship with the individuals they are supporting, helping to set goals for recovery, developing an individualised action plan, and guiding them on their journey through the healthcare system (Peart et al., 2018).

Patient navigation is increasingly used in primary healthcare settings as primary care services begin to assume greater responsibility for coordinating care for patients and their families (Van Lerberghe, 2008).

Case management/care coordination

Case management as a strategy for improving health and social care integration aims to improve co-ordination of care to meet the holistic needs (physical, and psychosocial) of individuals. Programmes underpinned by a case management model of care integration involve a case manager working with a person to understand their health needs and to plan and coordinate appropriate care and are most commonly used to integrate services around the needs of individuals with long-term and/or complex health conditions (Ross et al., 2011). The reduction in the fragmentation of health and social care services is thought to result in better patient and service outcomes (Sadler et al., 2018).

Co-location

Co-location models of integration endeavour to bring together multiple services, that have traditionally been delivered separately, within a single community-based location (Memon & Kinder, 2017). Within primary care contexts, co-location typically involves the location of GPs and other health professionals in the same practice. The aim of this is to minimise fragmentation across the various health professionals involved in a person's care by providing people with a single point of access and ensuring they receive more responsive services (Ham, 2009).

Adapted Individual Placement and Support

The Individual Placement and Support (IPS) model was developed to support people with serious mental illness to return to or stay in competitive employment by integrating employment support with mental healthcare (Bond et al., 2020). Strong evidence for the effectiveness of traditional IPS services (Frederick & VanderWeele, 2019) has led to modifications that support the implementation of IPS among people with a wide range of health conditions and disabilities. A number of IPS modifications have been implemented in primary healthcare contexts (Whitworth, 2019).

Multi-component approaches

Multi-component approaches combine two or more interventions designed to integrate care. In practice, most interventions or programmes are underpinned by a multi-component approach (Guise et al., 2014). The different components of these approaches can be "fixed" where the components always occur together, or "variable" where implementations can involve only some components.

Findings

The literature search found no previous reviews focused on programmes integrating employment support with primary health or community care for disabled people and people with health conditions. However, the search found 21 evaluations of 17 unique international programmes, and 15 evaluations of 12 unique programmes delivered in NZ.

The largest international evidence base for programmes integrating employment support with primary care have been based on adaptations of IPS

Recently, IPS has been trialled in populations other than those with serious mental illness, including people with health conditions treated in primary care (Bond et al., 2019). Internationally, nine programmes have involved an adaptation of IPS delivered in a primary health setting. These programmes have been investigated among people with developmental disabilities, mild-to-moderate mental illness, PTSD, spinal cord injury, and general health and social problems. Three programmes adapting the IPS model for primary care populations have been evaluated in New Zealand.

The international evidence base for IPS employment support integrated within primary health settings has been growing rapidly. Several implementation studies have demonstrated the feasibility of adapting IPS for people with mental health or developmental difficulties who are being treated in primary or community care settings (McLaren et al., 2017; Noel et al., 2018; Ferguson et al., 2012).

Additionally, large studies adopting randomised controlled designs have shown programmes informed by IPS principles to be more effective at increasing work participation than traditional vocational rehabilitation, including for people with common mental health conditions (Overland et al., 2018; Reme et al., 2015), veterans with PTSD (Davis et al., 2012, 2018), veterans with spinal cord injury (Ottomanelli et al., 2012; Cotner et al., 2018), and young adults not in employment, education, or training (Sveinsdottir et al., 2020).

In Australia, IPS has been found to be suitable for delivery within Headspace centres, which serve as a one-stop-shops for young people who need help. An evaluation of IPS trialled across 13 Headspace sites found that 43% of young people who received IPS achieved an education and/or employment outcome (KPMG & DSS, 2019). However, a lower proportion of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander young people experienced either of these outcomes, suggesting that research is needed to develop culturally led and informed IPS programmes.

To date, only formative and process evaluations of IPS in New Zealand primary care settings have been conducted. The findings of these indicate that it is feasible to provide IPS services in general practices for people with mental health conditions. Following introduction of employment consultants in Wellington general practices, GPs reported that their patients were more confident and motivated to manage their health issues (Te Pou, 2013b). However, a lack of communication between GPs and Work and Income was identified, as well as differences in preferred eligibility criteria for the service.

A need to establish seamless referral systems between the health professionals and employment consultants, and a need for sustainable funding mechanisms, was identified

in a related evaluation of employment consultants integrated into Hamilton general practice teams (Te Pou, 2013a).

Take Charge, an IPS adaptation developed specifically for young benefit recipients with mild or moderate mental health problems and/or substance use issues, was highly valued by participants (Higgins et al., 2019; Wilson et al., 2019). Although engagement with the Take Charge coordinator and employment consultant was variable, participants reported that the programme respected their culture and increased their motivation to seek employment (Wilson et al., 2019).

A recent systematic review on support for gaining employment among people with long-term conditions found that IPS employment principles and practices address barriers to employment. Integration of employment specialists with treatment teams, personalised job searches, financial advice, and ongoing support once working were particularly important (Fadyl et al., 2020b).

Given the New Zealand evidence that IPS is feasible to implement in general practices, and the international evidence demonstrating that IPS adapted for primary health contexts can improve employment outcomes for people with a broad range of health conditions, more research investigating IPS in New Zealand primary care services is recommended. In particular, work is needed to understand how employment outcomes vary by ethnicity in response to IPS, and to ensure that programmes are designed and delivered in a way that supports the employment aspirations of Māori (Priest & Lockett, 2020).

Co-location of employment support within primary care settings has been found to reduce work absence internationally

While no New Zealand co-location programmes were identified in this review (except for IPS programmes), two international programmes were informed by a co-location model (Wynne-Jones et al., 2018; Sennehed et al., 2018). These both involved the integration of a vocational service delivered by a physiotherapist into primary care settings, as well as contact with employers to make workplace improvements. The programmes were evaluated using cluster randomised controlled designs and a range of positive work outcomes were identified.

In the United Kingdom, embedding a physiotherapist vocational advisor into general practices led to reduced work absence and produced significant cost savings for society compared to standard best care, resulting in a net societal benefit of £733 (Wynne-Jones et al., 2018).

In Sweden, work-focused physiotherapy care increased the odds of having work ability (defined as working at least four consecutive weeks) at one-year follow-up when compared to standard physiotherapy care (Sennehed et al., 2018). While these findings were demonstrated among people with musculoskeletal pain, they provide a rationale for developing and testing co-located vocational services with a broader range of patient groups in primary care, and in the New Zealand context.

Evaluations of case management programmes to integrate employment support and primary healthcare have produced mixed results

The review identified four international case management programmes and eight New Zealand case management programmes that had been evaluated.

No strong evidence for using case management to integrate employment and primary healthcare support was found from the international evaluations, which employed mixed methods and RCT designs. In the United Kingdom, variable or limited engagement from GPs and other health professionals made it difficult to compare case management with other types of support, although patients perceived that case management had supported RTW and management of health conditions (Department for Work and Pensions, 2015; Rannard et al., 2014). No strong support for intensive case management or coordination approaches was found in large evaluations in Switzerland or Denmark (Poulsen et al., 2014; Scholz et al., 2016).

Similarly, evaluations of New Zealand case management programmes have used a range of methods, and findings have varied (Bence-Wilkins & Conlon, 2018; CSRE, 2009; de Boer & Ku, 2017; Hall & Henshaw, 2018; Lunt, 2006; Moss et al., 2017). Findings revealed that limitations with communication and reporting systems made it difficult to share information and monitor programme outcomes over time.

Some outcome and impact evaluations demonstrated small benefits in response to case management, such as, an increase in part time work and staircasing onto additional support programmes (MSD, 2010), however, others reported non-significant findings (Cameron et al., 2019; MSD, 2018).

A strengths-based evaluation of Rākau Rangatira, a Kaupapa Māori programme, identified low enrolment but a high level of engagement from participants. Participants reported receiving support to manage mental health and substance use issues, as well as improvements in their physical health and wellbeing (FEM 2006 Ltd, 2018).

Patient navigation has received limited investigation, but findings are promising

The review identified one international patient navigation programme and one that had been delivered in the New Zealand context. Patient navigation involves the integration of a health navigator into a person's healthcare team. The navigator develops a one-on-one relationship with the individuals they are supporting, co-ordinating care, helping to set goals for recovery, and generally guiding them on their journey through the healthcare system.

An outcome evaluation of the Stay Well, Stay Working navigator programme in Minnesota indicated that the navigator model may increase engagement with health services over time, reduce physical limitations, and for those who are highly engaged, improve mental health and reduce need for social security benefits (Linkins et al., 2011).

Similarly, findings from a small implementation evaluation of the New Zealand programme Step Up suggest that the navigation model helped to increase awareness of entitlements and available services for people unable to work due to poor health (Malatest International, 2019).

Given the limited evidence, it is not possible to draw conclusions regarding the effectiveness of programmes that integrate employment support with primary healthcare using the patient navigation model. However, the positive findings from the identified evaluations suggest that further investigation is warranted.

Several programmes identified in this review included multiple components

Many of the programmes identified in this review could be described as multi-component initiatives. This is particularly true of the programmes classified according to the colocation and adapted IPS models of integration. In line with OECD recommendations, these programmes involved engagement with employers to identify appropriate work and make necessary workplace adaptations, in addition to the provision of support to manage health conditions.

Combining contact with employers and/or workplace modifications with health and social service coordination has been identified as a key feature of interventions that successfully help people with a chronic illness or disability into work (Pinto et al., 2018). Consistent with this, a population based RCT of a multi-component integrated care programme implemented in primary and secondary care settings in the Netherlands found that people with chronic low back pain receiving the programme returned to work significantly faster than people who received usual care (Lambeek et al., 2010). It should be noted that in NZ however, unlike in many European countries, there are few levers to require employer involvement in the return-to-work process.

Conclusions

This review has summarised published evaluations of programmes to integrate employment support and primary healthcare for disabled people and people with health conditions. It has enabled identification of the models used most frequently to develop these programmes, and programmes that may be worthy of investigation in the New Zealand context.

Overall, review findings suggest that multi-component programmes to integrate primary healthcare and employment support have the greatest likelihood of improving management of health conditions and helping people into sustainable employment. However, more investigation of these and other approaches is needed in the New Zealand context, and it is crucial to investigate more fully how these programmes work for Māori and Pacific Peoples.

Recommendations

Based on the evaluations reviewed, the following should be considered when designing and implementing programmes to integrate employment support with primary healthcare services for disabled people and people with health conditions in New Zealand:

- Multi-component programmes that involve employment specialists co-located within health services, such as IPS, have the strongest evidence base and the greatest likelihood of improving management of health conditions and helping people into sustainable employment. These programmes provide a comprehensive package of services and include engagement with prospective employers.
- More research investigating multi-component programmes, such as IPS, in New Zealand primary care services is recommended, particularly, work is needed to understand how employment outcomes vary by ethnicity in response to IPS, and to ensure that programmes are designed and delivered in a way that supports the employment aspirations of Māori.
- More investigation of other integration approaches is needed in the New Zealand context, to understand how they work for Māori and Pacific Peoples. It is essential to further investigate and identify how different integration approaches are experienced by Māori, and for Kaupapa Māori programmes to be developed.
- Successful programmes take a person-centred approach and are characterised by effective communication and coordination between health professionals, employment specialists, and employers.
- Programmes should recognise how health conditions and/or disabilities affect the
 capacity of people to engage with employment-focused activities, including when
 they have moved into work, and ensure that support for people to manage their
 health is available. Programmes that provide limited support from health
 professionals tend to have low levels of retention and engagement.
- Adequate communication and reporting systems are needed to ensure that programme delivery and outcomes can be consistently monitored over time. This data is critical for evaluating the success of a programme, and for informing any changes to design and implementation.
- It is important that programmes endeavour to achieve outcomes associated with sustainable employment, such as engagement in part-time work and health and wellbeing, rather than focusing solely on off-benefit employment outcomes.
- Outcomes need to be monitored over sufficiently long periods to detect clinically meaningful changes in outcomes over time.

Appendix One: Methodology

Evidence to inform the Oranga Mahi programme was needed within a specified timeframe so a rapid review was conducted. Rapid reviews provide high-quality evidence to support strategic decision making in a timely and cost-effective manner (Langlois et al., 2019). Several different approaches can be used to conduct a rapid review, therefore transparent reporting of methods is important to aid policymakers, practitioners, and researchers in the interpretation of review findings (Haby et al., 2016).

A rapid review of academic and grey literature was conducted to identify evaluations of programmes designed to integrate employment support with primary healthcare for disabled people and people with health conditions. Specific objectives of the review were to describe the range of models that have underpinned these programmes and summarise their outcomes. A narrative synthesis of the findings was completed to document the strength of the evidence for different types of programmes.

The literature search identified 15 evaluations of 12 unique programmes delivered in NZ, and 21 evaluations of 17 unique international programmes. The most frequently evaluated programmes in NZ were based on a case management model of integration, while most international programmes were based on an adaptation of the evidence-based model of Individual Placement and Support (IPS).

Search Strategy

MSD's Koha database, Google Scholar, and Google were used to identify scientific and grey literature pertaining to integrated health and employment supports delivered in primary or community care settings. The Canadian Best Practices Portal – Aboriginal Ways Tried and True was searched for literature on Indigenous programmes. To enhance the relevance of findings, each search was restricted to articles and reports published in English and to those published from 2010 onwards (except for searches to identify NZ evaluations, where no limit was placed on publication date). Searches were completed between January – March 2021. A combination of key words was used with Boolean logic and operators (i.e., 'and', 'or').

The following concepts and terms were used for the search:

Review (review or meta-analysis or meta-analyses) AND Employment (employment or vocation or work or job) AND Service (service or intervention or support or approach or programme or program) AND Health Condition (health condition or illness or chronic illness or chronic condition or comorbid or mental health or mental illness or disability) AND Primary Care (primary care or primary health or primary medical or general practice or primary prevention or community care)

The rapid review was non-systematic in that the search was iterative and only immediately relevant search results were screened for inclusion. Reference lists of relevant publications were reviewed to identify any additional publications that may have been missed. Feedback from MSD's Research and Evaluation team informed searches for specific programmes of potential relevance within MSD's information repository.

Titles and abstracts of publications were screened to determine eligibility according to the inclusion/exclusion criteria described below.

Eligibility Criteria

Types of studies

The focus was on identifying reviews of the literature and meta-analyses in the first instance. Single studies and programme evaluations were also included if they had been missed by reviews. Priority was given to reviews and studies of individual or cluster randomised controlled trials (RCTs), quasi-randomised controlled trials, and controlled before and after studies. However, publications reporting other study designs (including qualitative and mixed methods designs) were considered if they described an evaluation of a relevant programme.

Programmes

Programmes, services, and/or interventions designed to integrate employment support with primary healthcare or community care were the focus of this review.

Target population

The population of interest included people with health conditions, including either physical or mental health conditions, and people with disabilities, including physical, sensory, and developmental disabilities.

Setting

Evaluations of programmes implemented within a primary or community care setting were included. Only programmes that had been delivered in OECD/high-income countries were considered, where healthcare settings and social support systems are likely to be most comparable to the New Zealand context.

Outcomes

No restrictions were placed on the type of outcomes investigated. These could include participant employment outcomes, quality of life, functioning, and physical and mental health indicators. Perceptions of programmes or services from the perspectives of key stakeholders (such as healthcare staff) were also considered, in addition to costs or benefits associated with the services.

Synthesis of Findings

Key information about the different programmes that have integrated employment support with primary health or community care for people living with health conditions and/or disabilities was organised into two tables. These tables presented information on models implemented in NZ and models implemented internationally, respectively. Information from the tables was then used to complete a narrative synthesis, summarising the outcomes associated with each programme.

Strengths and Limitations of the methodology

A rigorous approach was taken to this review by using a transparent, and reproducible search strategy to identify evaluations. Clear inclusion and exclusion criteria were also applied. Nevertheless, the search was not comprehensive. It is possible that other evaluations of relevant programmes have been conducted but were not identified by the search, particularly international evaluations published in the grey literature.

Many of the evaluations completed in New Zealand were identified through MSD's internal document management system. Furthermore, no quality assessment of the

included evaluations was completed. Because of this, the reliability and validity of the review findings is unclear and should be interpreted with caution.

Only one Kaupapa Māori integration programme (underpinned by a case management/coordination model) was identified in the literature search. However, there are a plethora of Māori non-government organisations and health providers that use integrated models of care. These were considered out of the scope of this review because the focus was on integration of employment support and primary healthcare services, but there are important opportunities to learn from evaluations of broader integration approaches.

Evaluations conducted to date have provided limited information on how programmes have been experienced by Indigenous people, including Māori. Of the 11 programmes identified as integrating employment support and primary healthcare services in New Zealand, only two (Rākau Rangatira and Take Charge) had evaluations reporting on what Māori thought of the programme. And except for Rākau Rangatira, none of the New Zealand evaluations endeavoured to collect outcomes that were of specific relevance to Māori.

Of the 17 international programmes, only one (IPS at Headspace) had an evaluation that reported on outcomes for young Indigenous people. None of the international evaluations reported that they had endeavoured to collect outcomes of value to Indigenous people, or that the cultural appropriateness of measures had been considered. Therefore, the present review cannot provide information on the success of these programmes for Māori, or for other Indigenous people.

Appendix Two: Employment, Health, and Barriers

This appendix contains more detailed information on the intersection of health and employment for disabled people and people with health conditions, including the various barriers they may experience in the employment domain.

Suitable paid employment has health benefits for disabled people and people with health conditions

There is strong evidence that participation in suitable paid employment is beneficial for health and wellbeing for several reasons (Waddell & Burton, 2006). In addition to work providing income necessary for engaging in society, work meets important psychosocial needs, often serving as a source of individual identity, meaning, and social status (Waddell & Burton, 2006). That said, some physical and psychosocial aspects of work can also pose risks to health (Waddell & Burton, 2006).

The health promoting effects of work have been well-documented among disabled people and people with health conditions (Leonardi & Scaratti, 2018). Remaining in or reentering the workforce is associated with better health outcomes, reduced risk of long-term incapacity, increased independence, and improved quality of life and wellbeing (Waddell & Burton, 2006). People with disabling conditions also report that work generates feelings of normality and provides opportunities for socialisation (Saunders & Nedelec, 2014). There is clear evidence that not being employed is detrimental to health and wellbeing.

Disabled people and people with health conditions have lower rates of employment and are more likely to be in precarious work

There are a range of health and wellbeing benefits associated with participation in work, however, disabled people and people with health conditions often face multiple barriers to entering and remaining in employment. In NZ, the rate of employment for disabled people is 23% while the rate for non-disabled people is 70% (Health and Disability System Review, 2020). In Europe, people experiencing restrictions in their work life because of health conditions have an employment rate 30% less than people with no restrictions (Eurostat, 2015). Studies in the United Kingdom and United States have found labour force participation rates for people with disability to be less than half those of people without disability (Hogan et al., 2012).

For disabled people and people with health conditions who are participating in work, this work is more likely to be temporary or part-time, lower paying, and associated with fewer benefits than the work of people without disabilities (LaMontagne et al., 2016). Some disabled people and people with health conditions are more at risk of poorer outcomes. These include those whose work capacity is severely impacted; those with mental health conditions; older workers; those with low qualifications or skills that are less in demand; and those who have left work as opposed to those who are still attached to employment (REF).

Difficulties engaging in stable and secure work are likely to be experienced by an increasing number of people over time. Factors such as, aging populations, increases in chronic health conditions, and poverty, among other causes, mean the prevalence of

people living with health conditions is increasing globally, in addition to the proportion of people managing multiple health conditions (Esteban et al., 2018).

Similar barriers to employment have been identified in New Zealand and internationally

In NZ, key barriers that stop people getting into work were identified by MSD engaging with a broad range of stakeholders between November 2012 and February 2013. Stakeholders included people with disabilities and/or health conditions, providers, advocates, individuals working in the disability sector, employers, and Work and Income staff (MSD, 2019). Consultation occurred through four online surveys, three public meetings in Auckland, Wellington, and Christchurch, and six single sector workshops. Online feedback was received from 807 people and public meetings and workshops were attended by over 250 people.

Barriers have also been described in recent international reviews and surveys investigating the experiences of people with long-term health conditions and/or disabilities seeking paid employment (Fadyl et al., 2020a; Vornholt et al., 2018). For example, a qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis of 62 studies described the social, cultural and biographical factors affecting opportunities for paid work among people living with long-term health conditions from 15 different countries (Fadyl et al., 2020a). An online survey administered in seven European countries has also explored factors having a negative impact on the work lives of 487 participants with six different types of chronic health conditions (Foitzek et al., 2018).

Disabled people and people with health conditions experience multiple barriers to employment

Entering or returning to work for disabled people and those with health conditions is an individual, complex, and multidimensional process. Similar barriers to engaging in employment have been identified by disabled people and people with health conditions across countries. These include individual barriers, social barriers, employment-specific barriers, and socio-economic, and environmental barriers.

Individual barriers

Individual barriers reported by stakeholders in NZ include functional limitations preventing engagement in work that aligns with previous experience and/or skills, a lack of qualifications and stable work history, and confidence and self-esteem issues (MSD, 2019). Stakeholders reported that limited work experience contributes to reduced confidence, reduced hope for employment, and a fear of the unknown. Internationally, evidence suggests that an additional individual barrier is the reality of living with a long-term condition and the significant time and energy this requires, reducing energy available to engage in paid work (Fadyl et al., 2020a; Foitzek et al., 2018).

Social barriers

A social barrier to employment identified by people in NZ is negative assumptions held by others in the community. Friends and family members, as well as co-workers may question the capacity and competence of disabled people and people with health conditions to work (MSD, 2019). Stigma and discrimination towards those with health conditions have also been reported internationally (Foitzek et al., 2018; Vornholt et al., 2018). In NZ and internationally, an absence of appropriate role models, or examples of

disabled people and people with health conditions engaged in the workforce, is an additional social barrier to work (Fadyl et al., 2020a; MSD, 2019).

Employment- specific barriers

In NZ and internationally, attitudes of employers are an employment-specific barrier to work. Some employers hold biased views about disabled people and people with health conditions that influence their hiring decisions (Foitzek et al., 2018; MSD, 2019). Experiences of negative attitudes from past employers can lead to people being fearful of having to disclose health information to prospective employers, contributing to a reluctance to engage with potential employment opportunities (Fadyl et al., 2020a).

Other employment-related barriers in the NZ context include limited opportunities for a graduated return to work and limited availability of appropriate jobs. Research in a number of countries has noted that specific job requirements, such as having a high workload or many responsibilities, can result in pressure and stress for disabled people and people with health conditions, who are often required to perform their job in the same amount of time as those without any conditions (Foitzek et al., 2018; Vornholt et al., 2018). Limited accessibility of workplaces has also been identified as a central concern of people with long-term conditions seeking work (Fadyl et al., 2020a).

Socio-economic and environmental barriers

Broader socio-economic and environmental barriers to work identified in NZ include abatement and other funding disincentives, resulting in a risk for disabled people and people with health conditions being worse off in employment. Fear of losing benefits, particularly medical benefits that people cannot afford to lose, has also been reported as a barrier to employment by international qualitative studies (Fadyl et al., 2020a). Changes to benefits as a result of engaging in employment, especially employment that is part-time or precarious, has been found to decrease financial security for people with health conditions (Fadyl et al., 2020a).

In NZ and internationally, insufficient government funding to enable employers to provide people with health conditions an adequate level of support once they enter the workforce has been identified (MSD, 2019). Furthermore, while New Zealand employers are required to take reasonable measures to meet an employee's needs, international jurisdictions have placed greater obligations on employers to support work retention and return to work for disabled people and people with health conditions (MBIE, 2022).

An additional socio-economic and environmental barrier to employment is poverty. Several studies have demonstrated that poverty prevents access to the resources needed to get to or present appropriately at work (Fadyl et al., 2020a).

Appendix Three: Understanding Integrated Employment Support Models

This appendix details the case for integrated employment support programmes. It discusses the various structures and systems that support successful integration and describes the different integration models in greater depth.

Increased integration of employment support and healthcare services has been recommended to remove barriers

Cross-agency and cross-sector partnerships may help to address the many barriers to employment experienced by disabled people and people with health conditions. Both health and employment sectors are recognising the importance of ensuring employment support is available for people who are unemployed, and of interventions to improve and foster the health of the working-age population. Integrated programmes, that combine employment support with support from healthcare professionals, have been recommended to address the common objectives of these sectors (Priest & Lockett, 2020).

The integration of employment support with healthcare provision builds on a more general trend in healthcare to deliver integrated care (Singer et al., 2020). While there is significant variation in the conceptualisation of integrated care, this type of care delivery is characterised by consistent coordination within and across healthcare teams, is continuous over time, is person-centred, and emphasises the central role of service users in making decisions about their care (Singer et al., 2011).

The provision of successfully integrated person-centred care has been promoted to improve the availability, quality, and efficiency of services, particularly for people with complex health needs (Valentijn et al., 2013). Evaluations indicate that initiatives to integrate care in health contexts have resulted in improved perceptions of quality of care, increased patient satisfaction, and improved access to care (Baxter et al., 2018), as well as reduced health service costs (Rocks et al., 2020).

However, it should be noted that it can be challenging to integrate services well. At the organisational level, for an integrated approach to be successful it is likely to require, for example, the need to lead a diverse team of practitioners (sometimes virtually), building and sustaining a collaborative culture, developing and managing systems and structures to support integration, and fostering inter-agency and inter-sectoral collaboration (Te Pou, 2020).

There is increasing evidence that addressing the employment needs of disabled people and people with health conditions should be considered a key component of integrated care delivery. For people with serious mental health conditions, the integration of employment support with clinical treatment has been found to increase clinicians' awareness of the benefits of employment for health and wellbeing, facilitate early referral to employment services, encourage joint planning from employment and health agencies, and support more people into work than non-integrated employment support services or standard psychiatric care (Modini et al., 2016).

While less research has investigated the integration of employment support with healthcare for people with physical health conditions and other disabilities, available findings indicate that combining work-focused strategies with clinical care is more effective than using either strategy alone (Butler et al., 2012).

Primary healthcare settings should be well placed to provide integrated employment and health services

Within health systems, primary healthcare settings deliver services to prevent, diagnose, educate, and provide care. They also serve as a gateway to other specialist services that a person may need (Health and Disability System Review, 2020, p104). Primary healthcare settings are increasingly serving as 'hubs' of care coordination, where multiple health professionals (e.g. general practitioners (GPs), nurses, pharmacists, physiotherapists) work together to meet the health and social needs of people seeking care (Valaitis et al., 2017).

It will be important to get the institutional and organisational requirements right to foster successful integration of services, however, the integration of employment support into primary care and community care settings could present an important opportunity to meet the employment needs of disabled people and people with health conditions. Many people with health conditions would like to work and see employment as a central part of their recovery (Saunders & Nedelec, 2014). However, periods of unemployment can lower confidence levels and self-esteem. Having a health professional to foster hope and expectations of a return to work may help to mitigate this, and GPs are well-placed to provide this type of support. Many people with long-term health conditions and/or disabilities have an established relationship with their GP and have a high degree of trust in their advice and guidance (Stewart, 2005).

GPs are often the first point of contact for people when health problems arise. Therefore they are well-placed to pick up problems at the earliest possible time, to ask about employment status, and to offer the necessary treatment to prevent some problems becoming more severe (Te Pou, 2013a). Research focused on people with mild mental health conditions has found that these individuals begin to consult their GP more frequently in the two to three years before they begin claiming health or disability benefits (Whittaker et al., 2010). Therefore, there is an important window of opportunity for GPs to identify frequent users who would benefit from occupational support, helping them to remain in work.

The 2011 Australian and New Zealand Consensus Statement on the Health Benefits of Work noted that medical, nursing, and allied health professionals all have a role to play in promoting the health benefits of work and in offering support and encouragement to those attempting to enter the workforce (Australasian Faculty of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 2011). However, there is potential to increase the opportunities for GPs in NZ to do this. Currently, employment support from GPs is largely focused on the provision of work capacity medical certificates, and there is an absence of employment services to directly refer patients to (Te Pou, 2013a).

Earlier explorations of integrated employment and primary health services in NZ, such as the Providing Access to Health Solutions (PATHS) initiative, suggest that GP care coordinated with specialised employment support and dedicated Work and Income assistance has potential to improve the confidence of people to manage their health (Te Pou, 2013b), and increase engagement in paid employment (Centre for Social Research and Evaluation, CSRE, 2009).

The Oranga Mahi programme includes several new initiatives integrating employment support with primary healthcare

The cross-agency Oranga Mahi programme includes several initiatives that aim to provide integrated employment, welfare, and primary health support for people living with health conditions or disabilities. These initiatives are delivered in primary care settings, enabling GPs to facilitate access to a range of employment services for eligible patients. While the Oranga Mahi programme is made up of several different initiatives, including some designed for people with specific types of health conditions, all are under-pinned by a common theory of change. This theory proposes clients enrolled in the Oranga Mahi programme will experience improved wellbeing and employment outcomes if they:

- are assigned dedicated support from a team that works in an integrated way
- are supported to define their own wellbeing and employment goals and develop an individualised plan
- have access to health and social services that meet their needs.

National and international reports indicate a need for the Oranga Mahi programme

Several recent reports have highlighted the potential benefit of improving access to health and employment supports, as intended by the Oranga Mahi programme. For example, the 2019 Welfare Expert Advisory Group (WEAG) report Whakamana Tāngata noted that improving access to health services for people in receipt of a benefit is necessary to ensure they can maintain and improve their physical and mental wellbeing, and that this is particularly important for disabled people and people with health conditions (Welfare Expert Advisory Group, 2019).

The 2018 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) report on mental health and work in NZ outlined the high prevalence of mental health conditions in NZ and recommended that evidence-based employment services be integrated with mental health treatment (OECD, 2018). The OECD also recommended shifting spending from specialist to primary care, strengthening the employment competence of the health sector, and providing integrated health and employment services to people claiming welfare benefits, irrespective of benefit type (OECD, 2018).

Understanding the range of different integration models

The initiatives currently being implemented as part of the Oranga Mahi programme can be contextualised alongside other programmes that have integrated employment support with primary healthcare, both in NZ and internationally.

Programmes that integrate employment support with primary healthcare services for disabled people and people with health conditions have been underpinned by a range of different integration models. These models include patient navigation, case management/care coordination, co-location, adapted Individual Placement and Support (IPS), and multi-component approaches. There is significant overlap across the models with respect to integration activities.

Patient navigation

Patient navigation approaches to care integration are designed to efficiently guide patients on their journey through the healthcare system. Harold Freeman, an American oncologist, is widely regarded as the founder of the patient navigation model (Freeman, 2006). Freeman introduced the Harlem Patient Navigation Program in 1990 while serving as the Director of Surgery at Harlem Hospital. This aimed to reduce disparities in breast cancer care by introducing patient navigators to facilitate timely access to diagnosis and treatment (Freeman & Rodriguez, 2011).

Over the past 30 years, the scope of patient navigation has expanded to address barriers to care for a broad range of health issues, across diverse contexts (Valaitis et al., 2017). Patient navigation is increasingly used in primary healthcare settings as primary care services begin to assume greater responsibility for coordinating care for patients and their families (Van Lerberghe, 2008).

An important aspect of patient navigation is the integration of a navigator within a person's healthcare team, helping to overcome the delivery of fragmented care that is frequently experienced by people with long-term health conditions. Navigators develop a one-on-one relationship with the individuals they are supporting, helping to set goals for recovery, developing an individualised action plan, and guiding them on their journey through the healthcare system (Peart et al., 2018).

Case management/care coordination

Case management as a strategy for improving health and social care integration aims to improve co-ordination of care to meet the holistic needs (physical, and psychosocial) of individuals. The reduction in the fragmentation of health and social care services is thought to result in better patient and service outcomes (Sadler et al., 2018).

Programmes underpinned by a case management model of care integration involve a case manager working with a person to understand their health needs and to plan and coordinate appropriate care. Case management (also known as care coordination) is a model of integration that was first developed in the 1960s, in response to the deinstitutionalisation of large numbers of people with mental health conditions (Lukersmith et al., 2016).

Since the 1990s, case management has been used with diverse populations in a broad range of healthcare settings, including hospital, rehabilitation, long-term care, and community-based settings (Lukersmith et al., 2016). The widespread implementation of case management has led to highly variable descriptions of the approach. This has resulted in some uncertainty about what exactly case management involves (Ross et al., 2011).

Case management is most commonly used to integrate services around the needs of individuals with long-term and/or complex health conditions (Ross et al., 2011). Within primary heath and community care settings, case managers are typically nurses or social workers. Their key tasks include case finding (to identify individuals most in need of enhanced care integration), assessment of individual needs, development of an individualised care plan, care coordination, and regular review, monitoring, and adjustment of the care plan (Goodman et al., 2010).

Several factors that are important to the success of case management initiatives have been identified. These include: targeting of support to people with a high level of need; clarity about the case manager role and support to ensure case managers have the right competencies; appropriate caseloads; and the involvement of multiple healthcare professionals in the development of care plans (Hudon et al., 2017; Ross et al., 2011).

Co-location

Co-location models of integration endeavour to bring together multiple services, that have traditionally been delivered separately, within a single community-based location (Memon & Kinder, 2017). Co-location gained attention as an integration approach following the creation of care trusts in the United Kingdom in the early 2000s. These trusts combine responsibilities for commissioning and providing health and social care under a single statutory body (Ham, 2009).

Across countries there is significant variation in the level of attention that national policies give to co-location as a method for improving integration in primary care (Bonciani et al., 2018). Within primary care contexts, co-location typically involves the location of GPs and other health professionals in the same practice. The aim of this is to minimise fragmentation across the various health professionals involved in a person's care by providing people with a single point of access and ensuring they receive more responsive services (Ham, 2009).

In addition to promoting cost reductions, better resource utilisation, and more efficient services, co-location is proposed to facilitate multi-professional teamwork, opportunities to share information, and chances to learn from one another (Memon & Kinder, 2017).

Adapted Individual Placement and Support

Individual Placement and Support (IPS) is a model that was developed to support people with serious mental illness to return to or stay in competitive employment by integrating employment support with mental healthcare (Bond et al., 2020). The model has a set of widely agreed upon principles and practices, and a validated fidelity scale has been developed to monitor adherence to these practices (Kim et al., 2015). In high fidelity implementations, employment specialists are co-located within secondary mental health service settings, providing individuals with one-on-one assistance to find and maintain employment. Each employment specialist is responsible for 20 or fewer active clients at any given time to ensure that sufficiently intensive support can be provided (Becker et al., 2011).

Strong evidence for the effectiveness of traditional IPS services (Frederick & VanderWeele, 2019) has led to modifications that support the implementation of IPS among people with a wide range of health conditions and disabilities. A number of modifications have been implemented in primary healthcare contexts (Whitworth, 2019).

Multi-component approaches

Multi-component approaches combine two or more interventions designed to integrate care. In practice, most interventions or programmes are underpinned by a multi-component approach (Guise et al., 2014). The different components of these approaches can be "fixed" where the components always occur together, or "variable" where implementations can involve only some components. The Adult Improving Access to Psychological Therapies programme (IAPT) in the UK is an example of this approach. It is characterised by three factors: the use of evidenced-based psychological therapies; routine outcome monitoring; and, regular and outcomes focused supervision for practitioners (NHS,2018).

Multi-component approaches that focus on incorporating employment support into health settings provide a package of services, including access to advice from an expert (e.g. a case manager), a rapid and competitive job search, ongoing feedback and support, networking with employers, education and training, and peer mentor support (Pinto et al., 2018). A difficulty with evaluating multi-component approaches is identifying which specific interventions produce the most consistent benefits for which groups.

Appendix Four: Table of services included in this literature review

Integrated primary health and employment services table

References

- Australasian Faculty of Occupational and Environmental Medicine. (2011). Australian and New Zealand Consensus Statement on the Health Benefits of Work.
- Baxter, S., Johnson, M., Chambers, D., Sutton, A., Goyder, E., & Booth, A. (2018). The effects of integrated care: A systematic review of UK and international evidence. BMC Health Services Research, 18(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3161-3
- Becker, D. R., Swanson, S., Bond, G. R., & Merrens, M. R. (2011). *Evidence-Based Supported Employment Fidelity Review Manual: 3rd Edition* (pp. 1–226). Dartmouth Psychiatric Research Center, Dartmouth University. http://www.dartmouth.edu/~ips/page19/page19.html
- Bence-Wilkins, L., & Conlon, F. (2018). *Work to Wellness Qualitative Evaluation*. A10773606, Information Repository, MSD.
- Bonciani, M., Schäfer, W., Barsanti, S., Heinemann, S., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2018). The benefits of co-location in primary care practices: The perspectives of general practitioners and patients in 34 countries. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2913-4
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., & Becker, D. R. (2020). An update on Individual Placement and Support. *World Psychiatry*, 19(3), 390–391. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20784
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., & Pogue, J. A. (2019). Expanding Individual Placement and Support to populations with conditions and disorders other than serious mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, appi.ps.2018004. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201800464
- Butler, A. D., Alson, J., Bloom, D., Deitch, V., Hill, A., Hsueh, J., ... Redcross, C. (2012). What Strategies Work for the Hard-to-Employ? Final Results of the Hard-to-Employ Demonstration and Evaluation Project and Selected Sites from the Employment Retention and Advancement Project.
- Cameron, M., Rouse, P., & Parsons, M. (2019). *REACH evaluation, preliminary analysis*. A12375510, Information Repository, MSD.
- Centre for Social Research and Evaluation. (2009). *PATHS Evaluation: Overview report*. A3518873, Information Repository, MSD.
- Cotner, B. A., Ottomanelli, L., O'Connor, D. R., Njoh, E. N., Barnett, S. D., & Miech, E. J. (2018). Quality of life outcomes for veterans with spinal cord injury receiving individual placement and support (IPS). *Topics in Spinal Cord Injury Rehabilitation*, 24(4), 325–335. https://doi.org/10.1310/sci17-00046
- Davis, L. L., Kyriakides, T. C., Suris, A. M., Ottomanelli, L. A., Mueller, L., Parker, P. E., ... Drake, R. E. (2018). Effect of evidence-based supported employment vs transitional work on achieving steady work among veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 75(4), 316–324. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.4472
- Davis, L. L., Leon, A. C., Toscano, R., Drebing, C. E., Ward, L. C., Parker, P. E., ... Drake, R. E. (2012). A randomized controlled trial of supported employment among

- veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(5), 464–470. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201100340
- de Boer, M., & Ku, B. (2017). *Effectiveness of MSD employment assistance*. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/employment-assistance-effectiveness/2016-employment-assistance-effectiveness-summary-fy14-15.pdf
- Department for Work and Pensions. (2015). Evaluation of the 2010 13 Fit for Work Service pilots: Final Report. June.

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/43
 8234/rr896-fit-for-work-service-pilots.pdf
- Dockery, A. M., & Milsom, N. (2007). A Review of Indigenous Employment Programs. A National Vocational Education and Training Research and Evaluation Program Report. National Centre for Vocational Education Research Ltd.
- Esteban, E., Coenen, M., Ito, E., Gruber, S., Scaratti, C., Leonardi, ... Sabariego, C. (2018). Views and experiences of persons with chronic diseases about strategies that aim to integrate and re-integrate them into work: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15051022
- Eurostat. (2015). *Gender Pay Gap Statistics*. http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/%0Aindex.php/Gender_pay_gap_statistics
- Fadyl, J. K., Anstiss, D., Reed, K., & Levack, W. M. M. (2020a). Living with a long-term health condition and seeking paid work: qualitative systematic review and thematic synthesis. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *0*(0), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1826585
- Fadyl, J., Levack, W., Anstiss, D., Reed, K., Harwood, M., & Kayes, N. (2020b). Support for gaining paid work for people living with a long-term condition: Systematic literature review. Summary of findings. https://cpcr.aut.ac.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/376071/Summary_LTC_GainWork.pdf
- FEM 2006 Ltd. (2018). *Rākau Rangatira (the Leader within) Evaluation Report*. A12009018, Information Repository, MSD.
- Ferguson, K. M., Xie, B., & Glynn, S. (2012). Adapting the individual placement and support model with homeless young adults. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, *41*(3), 277–294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-011-9163-5
- Foitzek, N., Ávila, C. C., Ivandic, I., Bitenc, Č., Cabello, M., Gruber, S., ... Coenen, M. (2018). What persons with chronic health conditions need to maintain or return towork—results of an online-survey in seven European countries. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15040595
- Frederick, D. E., & VanderWeele, T. J. (2019). Supported employment: Meta-analysis and review of randomized controlled trials of individual placement and support. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(2), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212208
- Freeman, H. P. (2006). Patient navigation: A community based strategy to reduce cancer disparities. *Journal of Urban Health*, 83(2), 139–141.

- https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-006-9030-0
- Freeman, H. P., & Rodriguez, R. L. (2011). History and principles of patient navigation. *Cancer*, 117(SUPPL. 15), 3537–3540. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26262
- Goodman, C., Drennan, V., Davies, S., Masey, H., Gage, H., Scott, C., ... Iliffe, S. (2010). Nurses as case managers in primary care: the contribution to chronic disease management. Report for the National Institute for Health Research Service Delivery and Organisation Programme, 1–318.
- Guise, J.-M., Chang, C., Meera, V., Glick, S., Treadwell, J., Umscheid, C. ... Trikalinos, T. (2014). Systematic reviews of complex multicomponent health care interventions. *Research White Papers*, 1–53.
- Haby, M. M., Chapman, E., Clark, R., Barreto, J., Reveiz, L., & Lavis, J. N. (2016). What are the best methodologies for rapid reviews of the research evidence for evidence-informed decision making in health policy and practice: A rapid review. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 14(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-016-0155-7
- Hall, P., & Henshaw, K. (2018). *Mana Taimahi Process Evaluation Memo*. A12060701, Information Repository, MSD.
- Ham, C. (2009). Only connect: policy options for integrating health and social care briefing paper. *The Nuffield Trust: Briefing Paper, April*, 1–12.
- Health and Disability System Review. (2020). *Health and Disability System Review: Final report Pūrongo Whakamutunga*. www.systemreview.health.govt.nz/final-report
- Higgins, J., Schroder, R., Savage, C., McKay, S., Te Hemi, H., & Goldsmith, G. (2019). Formative Evaluation of 'Take Charge', a Prototype Individual Placement and Support Adaptation for Young Benefit Recipients. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/individual-placement-and-support/take-charge-formative-evaluation.pdf
- Hogan, A., Kyaw-Myint, S. M., Harris, D., & Denronden, H. (2012). Workforce participation barriers for people with disability. *International Journal of Disability Management*, 7(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/idm.2012.1
- Hudon, C., Chouinard, M. C., Lambert, M., Diadiou, F., Bouliane, D., & Beaudin, J. (2017). Key factors of case management interventions for frequent users of healthcare services: A thematic analysis review. *BMJ Open*, 7(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017762
- Kim, S. J., Bond, G. R., Becker, D. R., Swanson, S. J., & Langfitt-Reese, S. (2015). Predictive validity of the Individual Placement and Support fidelity scale (IPS-25): A replication study. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 43(3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-150770
- KPMG, & Department for Social Services (DSS). (2019). Final Report for the Evaluation of the Individual Placement and Support Trial Department for Social Services.

 June. https://www.dss.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/08_2019/individual-placement-and-support-trial-evaluation-report-june-2019.pdf
- Lambeek, L. C., Van Mechelen, W., Knol, D. L., Loisel, P., & Anema, J. R. (2010).

 Randomised controlled trial of integrated care to reduce disability from chronic low

- back pain in working and private life. *BMJ (Online)*, *340*(7749), 750. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.c1035
- LaMontagne, A., Krynjacki, L., Milner, A., Butterworth, P., & Kavanagh, A. (2016). Psychosocial job quality in a national sample of working Australians: A comparison of persons working with versus without disability. *Population Health*, *2*, 175–181.
- Langlois, E. V., Straus, S. E., Antony, J., King, V. J., & Tricco, A. C. (2019). Using rapid reviews to strengthen health policy and systems and progress towards universal health coverage. *BMJ Global Health*, *4*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001178
- Leonardi, M., & Scaratti, C. (2018). Employment and people with non communicable chronic diseases: Pathways, recommendations and suggested actions for implementing an inclusive labour market for all and health in all sectors.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(8), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081674
- Linkins, K. W., Brya, J. J., Oelschlaeger, A., Simonson, B., Lahiri, S., McFeeters, J., ... Mowry, M. A. (2011). Influencing the disability trajectory for workers with serious mental illness: Lessons from Minnesota's Demonstration to Maintain Independence and Employment. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *34*(2), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-2010-0539
- Lukersmith, S., Millington, M., & Salvador-Carulla, L. (2016). What is case management? A scoping and mapping review. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 16(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.2477
- Lunt, N. (2006). Sickness and Invalid's Benefits: New Developments and Continuing Challenges. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, *27*, 77.
- Malatest International. (2019). *Step Up Trial Formative and Process Evaluation*. A12266114, Information Repository, MSD.
- McLaren, J., Lichtenstein, J. D., Lynch, D., Becker, D., & Drake, R. (2017). Individual Placement and Support for people with autism spectrum disorders: A pilot program. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 44(3), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-017-0792-3
- Ministry of Business, innovation, and Employment. (2022). A New Zealand Income Insurance Scheme: A discussion document. https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/18666-a-new-zealand-income-insurance-scheme-a-discussion-document
- Ministry of Social Development. (2010). *Impact of Mild to Moderate Mental Health* service on participants' outcomes: Technical Report. Centre for Social Research and Evaluation, Ministry of Social Development, Wellington.
- Ministry of Social Development. (2018). *Effectiveness of contracted case management services on off benefit outcomes: mid-trial report*. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/evaluation/effectiveness-of-contracted-case-management-services-mhes-and-spes-trial-evaluation-report-july-2018.pdf
- Ministry of Social Development. (2019). *Annual Report 2018-2019*. https://www.msd.govt.nz/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-

- resources/research/welfare-reform-health-disability/working-differently-with-people-with-health-conditions.html
- Modini, M., Tan, L., Brinchmann, B., Wang, M.-J., Killackey, E., Glozier, N., ... Harvey, S. B. (2016). Supported employment for people with severe mental illness: Systematic review and meta-analysis of the international evidence. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 209(1), 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.115.165092
- Moss, M., King, J., Pipi, K., & King, J. (2017). *Evaluation of Mana Taimahi. May*. A10945881, Information Repository, MSD.
- Noel, V. A., Oulvey, E., Drake, R. E., Bond, G. R., Carpenter-Song, E. A., & Deatley, B. (2018). A preliminary evaluation of individual placement and support for youth with developmental and psychiatric disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 48(2), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-180934
- NHS England. (2018). *Adult Improving Access to Psychological Therapies programme*. https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/iapt/
- OECD. (2018). *Mental Health and Work: New Zealand*. https://www.oecd.org/newzealand/mental-health-and-work-new-zealand-9789264307315-en.htm
- Ottomanelli, L., Goetz, L. L., Suris, A., McGeough, C., Sinnott, P. L., Toscano, R., ... Thomas, F. P. (2012). Effectiveness of supported employment for veterans with spinal cord injuries: Results from a randomized multisite study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 93(5), 740–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2012.01.002
- Overland, S., Grasdal, A. L., & Reme, S. E. (2018). Long-term effects on income and sickness benefits after work-focused cognitive-behavioural therapy and individual job support: a pragmatic, multicentre, randomised controlled trial. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 75, 703–708.
- Peart, A., Lewis, V., Brown, T., & Russell, G. (2018). Patient navigators facilitating access to primary care: A scoping review. *BMJ Open*, 8(3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019252
- Pinto, A. D., Hassen, N., & Craig-Neil, A. (2018). Employment interventions in health settings: A systematic review and synthesis. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *16*(5), 447–460. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2286
- Poulsen, O. M., Aust, B., Bjorner, J. B., Rugulies, R., Hansen, J. V., Tverborgvik, T., ... Nielsen, M. B. D. (2014). Effect of the Danish return-to-work program on long-term sickness absence: Results from a randomized controlled trial in three municipalities. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 40(1), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3383
- Priest, B., & Lockett, H. (2020). Working at the interface between science and culture: The enablers and barriers to individual placement and support implementation in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *43*(1), 40–52. https://doi.org/10.1037/prj0000388
- Rannard, A., Gabbay, M., Sen, D., Riley, R., & Britt, D. (2014). Feasibility trial of GP and case-managed support for workplace sickness absence. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 15(3), 252–261.

- https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423613000133
- Reme, S. E., Grasdal, A. L., Løvvik, C., Lie, S. A., & Øverland, S. (2015). Work-focused cognitive-behavioural therapy and individual job support to increase work participation in common mental disorders: A randomised controlled multicentre trial. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 72(10), 745–752. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2014-102700
- Rocks, S., Berntson, D., Gil-Salmerón, A., Kadu, M., Ehrenberg, N., Stein, V., & Tsiachristas, A. (2020). Cost and effects of integrated care: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Health Economics*, *21*(8), 1211–1221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-020-01217-5
- Ross, S., Curry, N., & Goodwin, N. (2011). Case management. What it is and how it can best be implemented. http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/Case-Management-paper-The-Kings-Fund-Paper-November-2011_0.pdf
- Sadler, E., Khadjesari, Z., Ziemann, A., Sheehan, K., Whitney, J., Wilson, D., Bakolis, I., Sevdalis, N., & Sandall, J. (2018). Case management for integrated care of frail older people in community settings. https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD013088/full Saunders, S. L., & Nedelec, B. (2014). What work means to people with work disability: a scoping review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 24(1), 100–111.
- Scholz, S. M., Andermatt, P., Tobler, B. L., & Spinnler, D. (2016). Work incapacity and treatment costs after severe accidents: Standard versus intensive case management in a 6-year randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 26(3), 319–331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-015-9615-0
- Sennehed, C. P., Holmberg, S., Axén, I., Stigmar, K., Forsbrand, M., Petersson, I. F., & Grahn, B. (2018). Early workplace dialogue in physiotherapy practice improved work ability at 1-year follow-up-WorkUp, a randomised controlled trial in primary care. *Pain*, 159(8), 1456–1464. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001216
- Singer, S., Kerrissey, M., Friedberg, M., & Phillips, R. (2020). A comprehensive theory of integration. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 77(2), 196–207.
- Singer, S., Burgers, J., Friedberg, M., Rosenthal, M. B., Leape, L., & Schneider, E. (2011). Defining and measuring integrated patient care: Promoting the next frontier in health care delivery. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 68(1), 112–127. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558710371485
- Stewart, M. (2005). Reflections on the doctor-patient relationship: From evidence and experience. *British Journal of General Practice*, *55*(519), 793–801.
- Sveinsdottir, V., Lie, S. A., Bond, G. R., Eriksen, H. R., Tveito, T. H., Grasdal, A. L., & Reme, S. E. (2020). Individual placement and support for young adults at risk of early work disability (The SEED trial). a randomized controlled trial. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health*, 46(1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.5271/sjweh.3837
- Te Pou. (2013a). A demonstration of integrated employment support in primary care Formative evaluation report. https://www.tepou.co.nz/uploads/files/resource-assets/a-demonstration-of-integrated-employment-support-in-primary-care-formative-evaluation-report.pdf

- Te Pou. (2013b). *Process evaluation of employment support in Wellington general practices*. A12035622, Information Repository, MSD.
- Valaitis, R. K., Carter, N., Lam, A., Nicholl, J., Feather, J., & Cleghorn, L. (2017). Implementation and maintenance of patient navigation programs linking primary care with community-based health and social services: a scoping literature review. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2046-1
- Valentijn, P. P., Schepman, S. M., Opheij, W., & Bruijnzeels, M. A. (2013).

 Understanding integrated care: A comprehensive conceptual framework based on the integrative functions of primary care. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, 13. https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.886
- Van Lerberghe, W. (2008). *The world health report 2008: primary health care: now more than ever*. World Health Organization.
- Vornholt, K., Villotti, P., Muschalla, B., Bauer, J., Colella, A., Zijlstra, F., Van Ruitenbeek, G., ... Corbière, M. (2018). Disability and employment–overview and highlights. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 27(1), 40–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2017.1387536
- Waddell, G., & Burton, A. K. (2006). *Is Work Good for Your Health and Well-Being?* The Department for Work and Pensions. https://doi.org/ISBN 0 11 703694 3
- Welfare Expert Advisory Group. (2019). *Current state: the welfare system and people with health conditions or diasabilities.*http://www.weag.govt.nz/assets/documents/WEAG-report/background-documents/d820b16862/HCD-and-welfare-system-010419.pdf
- Welfare Expert Advisory Group. (2019). Whakamana Tāngata. Restoring Dignity to Social Security in New Zealand. http://www.weag.govt.nz/weag-report/
- Whittaker, W., Sutton, M., Maxwell, M., Munoz-Arroyo, R., Macdonald, S., Power, A., ... Morrison, J. (2010). Predicting which people with psychosocial distress are at risk of becoming dependent on state benefits: analysis of routinely available data. *BMJ*, 341, c3838.
- Whitworth, A. (2019). Mainstreaming effective employment support for individuals with health conditions: An analytical framework for the effective design of modified individual placement and support (IPS) Models. *Social Policy and Society*, 18(4), 517–533. https://doi.org/10.1017/S147474641800043X
- Wilson, M., Painuthara, K., Henshaw, K., & Conlon, F. (2019). *Implementation study of 'Take Charge'*, a prototype Individual Placement and Support adaptation for young benefit recipients. https://www.msd.govt.nz/documents/about-msd-and-our-work/publications-resources/research/individual-placement-and-support/take-charge-full-implementation-study-report.pdf
- Wynne-Jones, G., Artus, M., Bishop, A., Lawton, S. A., Lewis, M., Jowett, S., ... Foster, N. E. (2018). Effectiveness and costs of a vocational advice service to improve work outcomes in patients with musculoskeletal pain in primary care: A cluster randomised trial (SWAP trial ISRCTN 52269669). *Pain*, *159*(1), 128–138. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000001075